IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

WHITZEY SANTAIZ WALKER

AUG 1 8 2008

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals APPELLANT

V.

٠

NO. 2007-KA-1869-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Erin E. Pridgen, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Whitzey Santaiz Walker

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WHITZEY SANTAIZ WALKER

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

NO. 2007-KA-1869-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT, AS THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A GUILTY VERDICT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi, where Whitzey Santzaiz Walker was convicted of burglary of a dwelling. The Honorable Isadore W. Patrick, Jr, Circuit Court Judge, presided over the two-day jury trial that began on August 27, 2007. Following the trial, Walker was sentenced as a habitual offender to serve twenty- five years under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Walker is currently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

On the night of July 16, 2006, Whitzey Walker crashed his Chevrolet Malibu on Old Jackson Road, in Vicksburg, Mississippi. [Tr. 125, 169]. Whitzey, who was driving under the influence of alcohol and drugs, had recently experienced the lost of his mother and an argument with his wife. [Tr. 169, 175-76; Defense Exhibits 1 &2] After freeing himself from the wrecked car, Whitzey walked down the road in search of help. [Tr. 170] Shortly afterward, Whitzey arrived at the home of Sherwood and Melissa Lyons. [Tr. 171]

There was conflicting testimony presented at trial as to what happened after Walker arrived at the home. According to Melissa Lyons, she woke up about 11:00p.m. to a banging noise on her front porch. [Tr. 67, 79] She was afraid that something had happened to her children that lived next door. [Tr. 80]. Without turning on the porch light, Melissa opened the door and saw Whitzey, whom she did not know. [Tr. 67]. According to Whitzey, he informed Melissa that he had been in a wreck and that he needed her to call the ambulance and tow truck. [Tr. 171]. However, Melissa testified that she only thought Whitzey said, "I'm coming in your house." [Tr. 67]. Melissa slammed and locked the door in Whitzey's face. [Tr. 68]

Whitzey testified that, after Melissa slammed the door, he remembered falling back on the window of the house and passing out. [Tr. 171] He did not remember regaining consciousness for about three days. According to Melissa, however, Whitzey dove through the home's window to gain entrance into the house. [Tr. 68]

There was no light on in this front room at the time. [Tr. 70, 95]. Sherwood testified that, by the time he wife slammed the door, he had come into the front room to inquire about the commotion. [Tr. 109]. Sherwood saw Whitzey come through the window and stand up. According to Sherwood, he recalled seeing Whitzey advance toward his wife, but he knocked Whitzey down with one punch and restrained him until the police arrived. [Tr. 109].

Officer John Elfer, a patrolman with the Warren County Sheriff's Department, was one of

the officers that arrived to the scene that night. [Tr. 121-22]. Officer Elfer testified that, when he arrived, he witnessed Sherwood on top of Whitzey, restraining him. [Tr. 123]. There was no evidence presented that Whitzey had any weapons or burglary tools that evening.

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

The trial court committed reversible error in denying the motion for JNOV. The State failed to sufficiently prove the requisite showing of assault in the burglary conviction. Absent this showing, Whitzie could only be found guilty of the lesser included offense of trespass.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT, AS THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A GUILTY VERDICT.

Challenges to the legal sufficiency of evidence require review under the light most favorable to the verdict. *McClain v. State*, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). The credible evidence consistent with the verdict must be accepted as true. *Id.* However, reversal is required when the facts and inferences drawn from the evidence indicate that, as to one of more of the elements of the charged offense, reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. *Coleman v. State*, 926 So. 2d 205, 208 (¶9) (Miss. 2007).

Whitzey was charged with burglary of a dwelling, with the intent to assault the occupants of

the home, in violation of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 97-17-23 (Rev. 2006). [R.E. 2]

Section 97-17-23 reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

Every person who shall be convicted of breaking and entering the dwelling house or inner door of such dwelling house of another, whether armed with a deadly weapon or not. . . with intent to commit some crime therein, shall be punished by imprisonment. . . not less than three(3) years nor more than twenty-five (25) years. (Emphasis added) Likewise, "assault" is defined by Section 97-3-7 of the Mississippi Code Annotated (Supp. 2007). Section 97-3-7 reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

(1) A person is guilty of simple assault if he (a) attempts to cause or purposely, knowingly or recklessly causes bodily injury to another; or (b) negligently causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; or (c) attempts by physical menace to put another in fear of imminent serious bodily harm...

Burglary requires both an unlawful breaking and entering, as well as an intent to commit a crime therein. Miss. Code Ann. §97-17-23 (Rev. 2006). The State is required to prove each element of the burglary. *Newburn v. State*, 205 So. 2d 260, 263 (Miss. 1967). The State failed to sufficiently prove that Whitzey had the requisite intent to commit an assault when he entered the Lyons home on the evening of August 16th.

The State relied on the testimonies of Melissa and Sherwood Lyons to establish the intent requirement. Melissa testified that Whitzey told her he was coming into the house, and after diving through the window, he moved toward her with his hands raised. [Tr. 68-70] However, Whitzey never made any verbal threats to the Lyons and he never physically assaulted the couple. [Tr. 86, 111]. Whitzey made no direct threats or statements that he ever intended to hurt the Lyons or put them in fear of serious bodily harm. His behavior was more consistent with a drunk, accident victim that had stumbled in the window and was reaching for help in the dark than that of a person attempting to physically harm a random stranger.

Absent direct testimony affirmatively showing there was an intent to commit a crime, the intent is inferred by the acts and declarations of the defendant, along with the facts and circumstances at the time. *Cortez v. State*, 876 So. 2d 1026, 1030 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Whitzey testified that he was involved in a car wreck and sought assistance from a stranger's home

in the middle of the night. [Tr. 171] There was no evidence presented that he planned to enter the home or that he intended on to hurt the unknown occupants in any way, or to put them in fear of bodily danger.

Even if the Court were to accept the position that Whitzie feloniously entered the home to commit an assault, the State failed to establish that the intent was formed upon entering the home, as opposed to after Whitzie was inside the home. "The intent to commit a crime therein must coexist with the physical entry." *Davis v. State*, 611 So. 2d 906, 911 (Miss. 1992).

Absent the required simultaneous intent, Whitzie could only be guilty of trespass. Trespass is the underlying basis for every burglary charge. *Harper v. State*, 478 So. 2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1985).

CONCLUSION

Whitzie Walker's burglary conviction is based on insufficient evidence as the State failed to prove the requisite showing of intent to commit the crime of assault. Walker request that this honorable Court reverse and render this matter.