IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WHITZEY SANTAIZ WALKER

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1869-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WHITZEY SANTAIZ WALKER prosecutes an appeal from his convictions of recidivism and burglary of a dwelling house.

After wrecking his automobile around 11:00 p.m. on Old Jackson Road in Warren County, an inebriated Walker, high after several nights of cocaine and hard liquor, approached the dwelling house of Sherwood and Melissa Lyons around 11:00 p.m., allegedly for the purpose of seeking assistance from the homeowners.

According to Melissa Lyons, Walker, after banging on her front door and upon being denied entry after Lyons closed the door, either crashed or dove though a living room window, stood erect, and placed Melissa in further fear by briskly approaching her with his hands in the air in a menacing manner.

Melissa's husband, Sherwood, intervened, and no actual physical assault took place.

Walker was later indicted for burglary with the intent to commit assault and convicted

following a trial by jury.

A single issue is raised on appeal to this Court.

"The trial court erred in failing to grant the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, as there was insufficient evidence to sustain a guilty verdict." (Brief of the Appellant at 3)

Walker claims his conviction should be reversed and the defendant discharged because the evidence was insufficient to prove he "... had the requisite intent to commit an assault when he entered the Lyons['s] home..." (Brief of the Appellant at 4)

We respectfully submit the evidence, considered in toto, was sufficient to prove the defendant broke and entered the dwelling house of Melissa Lyons with the intent to "... attempt by physical menace to put [Lyons] in fear of imminent serious bodily harm." (C.P. at 25)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

WHITZEY SANTAIZ WALKER, a thirty-nine (39) year old African-American male, twice convicted felon, and married resident of Vicksburg (R. 167, 175; C.P. at 52), prosecutes a criminal appeal from the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi, Isadore W. Patrick, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. Walker was convicted of burglary of a dwelling house following a trial by jury conducted on August 27-28, 2007.

Following a sentence enhancement proceeding conducted on October 12, 2007, pursuant to Miss.Code Ann. §99-19-81, and in the wake of a presentence investigation and report (R. 238-42), Walker was adjudicated guilty of recidivism and sentenced as a habitual offender to serve a term of twenty-five (25) years in the custody of the MDOC. (C.P. at 48, 51)

The State produced three (3) witnesses during its case-in-chief, including (1) Melissa Lyons, the intended victim, who made a positive in-court identification of Walker as the nighttime intruder. (R. 69-70)

Melissa is a 35 year resident of a home located near the intersection of Culkin Road and Old Jackson Road in Vicksburg where she resides with her husband, Sherwood. (R. 65)

During the nighttime hours of July 16, 2006, Melissa was awakened by her Boston terrier who sleeps with Melissa and her husband. Melissa heard some "banging" on her porch. She did not know at the time if it was against her door, window or the porch.

"I just heard banging. It could have been anywhere." (R. 79)

Melissa's version of ensuing events is found in the following colloquy:

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR BONNER:] Tell me what happened that night.

A. It was about 11:00. I was almost asleep and the dog started growling and making this noise. I heard all this bumping going on the front porch. My bedroom, my master bedroom is behind my living room. So I came across - - my children live next door - - in a trailer next door. And I thought something was wrong. I have two labs. I thought they may have run an armadillo up in my porch before running against the door. I didn't know what it was. I just jumped up. And then the dog was acting up. Went to the door. And like an idiot, I opened it completely opened, just like that (Indicating).

Q. What did you see?

A. And I saw that fellow over there (Indicating).

BY MR. BONNER: Your Honor, we would like for the record to reflect that she's identified the defendant, Mr. Walker.

BY THE COURT: The record will so reflect.

(THE WITNESS IDENTIFIED THE DEFENDANT.)

A. He was standing at my front porch. Here's my door when you open the door. I have two windows here. My porch goes out this way. And I had two big chairs right here (Indicating). Well, he was pulling this chair back. He was messing with this window, my further window (Indicating) He was about ten feet from me. He, you know, raised up and looked at me. He said something about my house.

Coming in my house or something about my house. I thought he said: "I'm coming in your house." And I said: "Oh, hell, no." And I slammed that door. He ran toward me. I'm fairly good size. I pushed - - and I was scared to death. I pushed the door shut, locked it and started screaming for my husband, who I thought was asleep. I took two steps from that door, I took maybe two, maybe three steps. I had this little table here at the time. I had a little table that I did my little craft work on close to the window. He came through that window, just I don't know how he did it. He came down, and he stood up. And he was coming across to me, and he must have been three feet from me - -

Q. Let me stop you. Was the window opened?

A. No. No. The window was not opened. The window was not opened. Let me get, kind of - -

Q. Get your bearings.

A. Yeah. When I was walking, I was yelling for my husband, and I was trying to run. And he came through that window. We got new windows. Okay. You pull them out. You can clean them, and you can push them back in. Don't buy those kind. He hit that window, and came though it, and he stood up. And he was coming across the room toward me. He had his hands up. And all I know is if my husband would not have been there, I would be gone. Really -- It was the scariest thing I've ever seen. (R. 67-68)

* * * * * *

Q. Tell me what happened.

A. I screamed. I think I said: "Sherwood, you better get in here." You know, I was screaming it over and over.

Q. Who's Sherwood?

A. Sherwood is my husband. I said: "Get in here. Get in here," you know. Before I got too far, he was right on me. And I said: "Get out of my house. Get out of my house." I had my hands up.

Q. You're talking about two different he's. You need to clarify for the record.

A. Sherwood was in the bedroom. I was yelling for him to come out. I couldn't see him, because I was watching this one coming though, Mr. Walker (Indicating). You know, I had my eyes there, and I was like: "Get out of my house. Get out of my house." And he was coming steady for me.

Q. Tell me what happened.

A. The next thing I see, Sherwood hits him with his hand, knocks him down, grabs a chair, and I'm like running around in circles. I'm like, looking for a phone, looking for a gun. I didn't know what to do. I didn't even cut the lights on. I was so upset. You know, Sherwood had him. They were wrestling. He had him with the chair. It was just awful. I ran to the phone. I grabbed a phone. Oh, they knocked over all the lighting, the tables. It was terrible. I got a phone and called 911. That was a big confusion, because they couldn't find my house. It was just confusion. And they wrestled around on the floor awhile. I made it to the bedroom, got a gun, got a phone, ran outside to stop the officers. And finally, I think I talked to 911 twice maybe three times. We had to call each other back, because I had to stop what I was doing and find - - get - - you know, find a gun, and you know, trying to help. I wasn't very much help. (R. 69-70)

- Q. (By Mr. Bonner) Can you identify this [photograph], please?
- A. (Reviewing). Yes, That's the door jam. Where when he hit the door, it broke. It split.
 - Q. That's your door?
- A. That's my front door. That's the crack in it (Indicating). (R. 71

* * * * * *

- Q. Now, I'm referring to State's Exhibit Number 4. Which is a photograph that you've identified as being your door frame; is that correct?
 - A. That's right.

- Q. All right. And for the record, was that there earlier (Indicating)?
 - A. (Reviewing). No, sir.
 - Q. That's what happened when he hit it?
 - A. Yes, sir. (R. 72)

During cross-examination Melissa testified on no fewer than three additional occasions that after banging on her door, she understood the defendant to say, "I'm coming in your house." (R. 81, 82, 83)

- Q. [BY DEFENSE COUNSEL:] And that's what he told you, isn't it, that he needed help?
- A. No. He did not. He did not say: "help me." He didn't say: "Call 911." He didn't say: "I need help." He said something, "I'm coming in your house." (R. 81)

* * * * * *

- Q. And you shut the door?
- A. I slammed the door against him. He was coming at me. (R. 81)

* * * * * *

- Q. Now what did he look like when you saw him? What was his demeanor?
- A. Well, he looked like he does there. Standing up, big-eyed, had his hands coming like that (Indicating). (R. 85)

* * * * * *

- Q. Okay. What happened after you told him to get out of your house?
 - A. He didn't. He was steadily coming toward me.
 - Q. When you say steadily coming toward you -

- A. Walking toward you.
- Q. Let me walk, and you tell me if I'm coming fast -
- A. Well, not really walking. He was like coming fast. It was seconds. You don't even want to - it's seconds. We're talking seconds here.
 - Q. So he walked toward you for about two seconds?
- A. He was coming toward me. He was like this far from me by the time my husband stopped - maybe three feet (Indicating).
 - Q. When he was walking toward you, where was his hands?

A. In the air. (R. 88)

* * * * *

- Q. Okay. All right. I want to get this straight. At no time, you never were hit by Whitzey. He never threatened you in anyway? He never touched you?
- A. The presence of him running toward me like he did, scared me to death, that was threatening to me, not to you, but to me. I'm a woman. (R. 93-94)

* * * * * *

- Q. What I'm saying is that as far as you're concerned the only thing he ever did toward you in a threatening or menacing manner, is when he walked toward you in the one or two steps that you mentioned right before Sherwood grabbed him; is that correct or incorrect?
- A. No. That's not correct. When I opened the door, and he said he was coming in my house, that was threatening. I shut the door, and he came through my house, that was threatening. And when he ran toward me, that was threatening. It was threatening. I call that threatening, and any woman in my position would have. (R. 94)

* * * * * *

Q. (By Mr. Campbell) Are you aware that he was having car

trouble or was in a car wreck that day?

- A. He didn't tell me that. I mean, when I opened the door, he could have said: "Call 911. Call the police. Call a tow truck." He didn't say that.
- Q. Are you sure you didn't slam the door in his face so fast he didn't have time to say it?
 - A. I'm positive.
 - Q. You were not aware that he had been in a car wreck?
 - A. No.
 - Q. Okay. If you had been aware of that --
- A. I would have gave him the telephone, call 911. All he had to do was ring the doorbell and knock on the door normally or said: "I need help." When I opened the door, if he said: "I need help." He would have gotten help. I wouldn't turn anybody away.
- Q. From the time he knocked on the door and you first saw him, until the time you slammed the door on him, how long are we talking about?
 - A. Seconds.
- Q. Seconds. Seconds. When you slammed the door, was he still trying to say something to you?
 - A. Un-hnh (Indicating no). He was rushing me.
 - Q. Was he rushing you -
- A. Rushing me. No, rushing. Bang. I slammed the door and held it against him and locked my door. I had to push my door shut.
 - Q. I understand.
 - A. I don't think you do.
 - Q. Well, I mean, you pushed your door shut. It's not --
 - A. No. The door is easy to open and shut. I had to push it

against body weight. He was coming in my house. (R. 96-97) [emphasis ours]

Melissa made a positive in-court identification of Walker as the nighttime intruder. (R. 67)

Sherwood Lyons, Melissa's husband, eventually subdued Walker who, according to Melissa, was fighting back. (R. 90)

(2) Sherwood Lyons, Melissa's husband, testified he was sound asleep when he was awaken by their barking dog. After Melissa went to the front door to check on matters he heard her screaming, "Hell, no" and "Get [in] here." (R. 108)

Sherwood's description of the bizarre events is quoted as follows:

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR BONNER:] Tell me what was going on that night.

A. Well, we had watched the late news, and we went to sleep. I was working shift work, and the little dog started barking and raising cane, right before mid-night, 11:00 or something. And I was sound asleep, and I asked Melissa to go check and see what that pounding was. You know, somebody might have been - - I thought the kids were coming in and out or something. And she went to the front door, and I heard her screaming, you know: "Hell, no." And she started screaming: "Get here." And when I jumped up out of the bed, and got to the door of my bedroom which was right outside the living room. The door from the living room goes into the bedroom. And I looked across there, and this guy had dove through our window and was climbing up like that going toward Melissa (indicating). And the room is about 24 foot long. It's a pretty big room. He was probably about eight foot from the other wall, so - - He was coming at Melissa. And Melissa's legs go to rubbing when she gets real frightened, and she was telling him, to get back, get back. And he was rushing at her, and I ran over there, and knocked him down on the ground. I couldn't even tell who he was or what. And, you know, put my foot on him and restrained him. Told Melissa to call 9 screamed at her and told her to call 911. And she went in there, and I heard her call them and stuff. And it seemed like forever before the police got there, but you know, it probably wasn't, but it seemed like it. And they finally came and cut the lights on, and you know, I couldn't believe this guy was an older guy. I thought it was a kid, because there was kids been going up [and] down the road. And it was an older guy, and he broke in on us. You know, I'm glad the police came on and got there and stuff, and it was blood everywhere, where he dove through my widow. And I was worried about that. (R. 108-09) [emphasis ours]

* * * * * *

A. You know, he dove through that window. You know, I could see him climbing up, you know, when I started running toward him, because he was running toward Melissa. And I ran and got, you know, straight down on him, you know. It infuriated me. (R. 110)

* * * * * *

A. That's the window that he came in here. And I seen the curtains come up, and we had a couch across here, which is about eight to ten foot from that wall out here. And he was coming at her there, and I got him right at the end of that couch, you know (Indicating). (R. 111)

* * * * * *

A. I was - - well, I'm going to tell you the truth. I was enraged to be honest with you. Because there's no excuse for that. Somebody breaking into my house and coming at my wife like that. And I work shift work, and automatically I thought protect my wife, and that's what I did. (R. 112)

* * * * * *

A. No. I figure he was coming to rob my wife and stuff, to rob our house and do damage to my wife to be honest with you, that's what I thought, because she was the one that he was coming at. Do you understand? (R. 115)

(3) John Elfer, a patrol officer with the Warren County Sheriff's Department, testified he responded to a possible burglary in progress near the intersection of Culkin and Old Jackson Road.

(R. 122)

When he arrived he placed the black male, who refused to comply with the officers' commands, in custody. (R. 123)

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR BONNER:] Did he give you any trouble?

A. He refused to comply with our commands. He was told to turn over, place his hands behind his back. The normal operations that we go through to try to place someone in handcuffs. He was kicking. I don't remember him saying anything. But we had to use force, myself and the other officer, to get the handcuffs on him, get him on his stomach. And then he wouldn't stand up for us, we had to physically take him outside. (R. 123)

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, the defendant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on the ground the state had failed to prove an intent to commit assault, i.e., "[s]he never indicates that he committed any assault." (R. 133)

The trial judge overruled the motion with the following comments made incidental to his ruling:

BY THE COURT: * * * The jury determines whether or not there was intent to commit an assault. And if they do find that, that's a jury question, then they can return a verdict of guilty on the issue of burglary because then you would have the two prongs of burglary completed. But that's a jury question. It's not for the Court to determine that. And that can only be determined through the facts of the case.

As I said before, it did not have to be an aggravated assault. It could have been a simple assault. And as you know, simple assault carries when someone makes a threatening gesture toward someone, and that person feels that they are in imminent danger to that person.

The Court must take as true all the statements given by Ms. Lyons. Now, the jury does not have to take that as true in their decision at the end of the case. But at this point in time, the Court must take as true all of the statements as to Ms. Lyons, as to what she felt, that she felt threatened, and what happened on that night.

Therefore, the Court finds that the Motion for Directed Verdict should fail because there are jury questions as to whether or not this was assault or intent to assault - - not actual assault but the intent to assault. That's a jury question. (R. 136-37)

After being advised of his right to testify or not, Whitzey Walker, the thirty-nine (39) year old defendant, elected to testify in his own behalf. (R. 167-188)

Walker first produced his wife, **Veronica Walker**, who testified about the damage done to her husband's automobile. (R. 161)

Veronica attested to the fact her husband's automobile had been wrecked, and he had spent three to four days in the River Region Hospital. (R. 161-62, 164)

Outside the hearing and presence of the jury, the prosecution informed Judge Patrick that Walker was not in the hospital for treatment of any injuries received in the accident but "because of his cocaine problem." (R. 164-65)

Walker himself testified his mother had recently died, he and Veronica "had a real bad argument," he left the house for four or five days, he started back drinking and getting high, and that on the night of July 16, 2006, he was "... just driving, crying and drunk." (R. 168)

"* * * I'm drunk and I'm high, and I'm just crying. So out of the middle of no where, bam, bam, and somebody was pushing my car from the back. So the whole back end of my car is smashed in, and the door was jammed." (R. 169)

After extricating himself from his wrecked motor vehicle, Walker went to a brick home where he knocked on the door.

"So I knock on the door, boom, boom, boom, boom, boom. So I ain't expect - - I didn't know who would come to the door. So the lady, Ms. Lyons, she came to the door. I said: "Ma'am," I said, "I had a car wreck." I say "Somebody ran me off the road. I had a real bad car accident." I said: "Would you call an ambulance and a tow service for me?" She said, "no." She closed the door. I'm drunk. I'm high. I hadn't been home. I haven't had no sleep, zero sleep, at all for four days of straight drinking, no rest, no sleep, no nothing. So and I turned around. I turn around. I say, bam, my back was against a window. I don't remember being in no house, and my legs was like this here outside, I mean, right there in the windowsill (Indicating). It was a brick windowsill, and right there in the

windowsill, just like this here, like this here, laid out (Indicating). I passed completely out. I woke up two or three days later in the hospital, not knowing where I am I didn't know nothing. I don't remember nothing. But waking up two to three days later. * * * " (R. 171-72)

Walker denied breaking into the home of Melissa and Sherwood Lyons. He testified: "I didn't assault nobody." (R. 172) ""[T]hey're lying on me." (R. 172) "I passed out." (R. 172) "I fell on the window on the front porch." (R. 173) "I was smoking cocaine." (R. 175, 186)

Walker denied he was ever in the Lyons's living room. (R. 187)

At the close of all the evidence, Walker's renewed motion for a directed verdict was denied.
(R. 192)

Following the reading of jury instructions and the closing argument of counsel, the jury retired to deliberate at a time not reflected by the record. Reaching a verdict was not without some difficulty.

The jury sent two (2) notes to the circuit judge seeking additional guidance on the issue of intent at the time of the breaking and entry. (R. 218-223, 223; C.P. at 37-38) More guidance was necessary even after that. (R. 229-235) But "all's well that ends well." The discussions ended with the judge and both litigants agreeing to the granting of a supplemental jury instruction, C-5, which reads, in its entirety, as follows:

If you find from the evidence that there was a breaking and entering of the dwelling at 670 Culkin Road; and if you further find that there was an intent to commit a crime inside the dwelling, at the time of the breaking and entering, then you shall find the defendant guilty of burglary.

If you find from the evidence that the defendant did not have the intent to commit a crime inside the dwelling at the time of the breaking and entering, then you shall find the defendant not guilty of burglary. (R. 235-36) It can't get any more definite than that.

Jury instruction S-1, the State's substantive charge, required the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Walker broke and entered "with the intent . . . to assault Melissa Lyons."

(C.P. at 28; appellee's exhibit A, attached)

Jury instruction C-3 defined the offense of assault. (C.P. at 25; appellee's exhibit \underline{B} , attached)

At some point after the granting of C-5, the jury returned with the following verdict: "We, the jury, find the defendant guilty of burglary of a dwelling as charged in the indictment." (R. 237)

A poll of the jury, individually by name, reflected this verdict was unanimous. (R. 237-38)

Following a sentence-enhancement hearing conducted six (6) weeks post-trial on October 12, 2007, the trial judge adjudicated Walker a habitual offender and sentenced him to serve twenty-five (25) years without the benefit of probation or parole. (R. 240-42)

On or about October 22, 2007, Walker filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict which was overruled the same day. (C.P. at 56-57)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In his closing argument to the jury, the State's attorney pointed out that the statute defining the offense of assault says that a person is guilty of assault if he "... attempts by physical menace to put another in fear of immanent [sic] serious bodily harm. And, ladies and gentlemen, that is exactly what Melissa Lyons said happened to her." (R. 215)

We agree.

The jury was properly instructed via the S-1, C-3, and the C-5 supplemental instruction. See appellee's exhibits, \underline{A} , \underline{B} , and \underline{C} .

Accepting as true all evidence favorable to the State and disregarding evidence favorable to

Walker, it is clear the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's finding that Walker was guilty of burglary of a dwelling house with the underlying intent to assault by physical menace.

Proof of Walker's intent to assault by attempting by physical menace to put Melissa Lyons in fear of imminent serious bodily harm was supplied both directly and by reasonable inferences drawn from all the evidence.

He did and she was.

ARGUMENT

THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT WALKER'S CONVICTION OF HOUSE BURGLARY, EVEN IF BARELY.

In this appeal from a conviction of burglary of an occupied dwelling house the intent of the intruder at the time of the breaking and entry is the focal point of the appeal.

Walker claims the trial judge erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict because there was insufficient evidence of his intent to commit the crime of assault upon its occupants once inside. Walker states that "[h]is behavior was more consistent with a drunk, accident victim that had stumbled in the window and was reaching for help in the dark than that of a person attempting to physically harm a random stranger." (Brief of the Appellant at 4)

Accordingly, Walker suggests he can be guilty of no crime greater than trespass.

This is a legitimate argument. The issue of Walker's intent at the time of his breaking and entry apparently caused the jury some concern.

Nevertheless, in the end, the jury was properly instructed with respect to the issue of intent, and the testimony from both Melissa and Sherwood Lyons supports the verdict returned.

"Weight" and "sufficiency" of the evidence are not synonymous. "When determining whether the evidence was sufficient, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence is of such quality that reasonable and fairminded jurors in the exercise of fair and impartial judgment might reach different conclusions." Gilmer v. State, 955 So.2d 829, 833 (¶7) (Miss 2007)

We have meticulously quoted in our statement of facts the testimony which we feel fully supports the verdict rightfully returned by the jury. We respectfully submit the trial judge was eminently correct when he held the grade of the offense was a jury issue.

Walker received jury instruction D-7authorizing the jury to find him guilty of the lesser included offense of misdemeanor trespass. (C.P. at 33) It rejected this theory, as was its prerogative.

Our burglary statute reads as follows:

Every person who shall be convicted of breaking and entering the dwelling house or inner door of such dwelling house of another, whether armed with a deadly weapon or not, and whether there shall be at the time some human being in such dwelling house or not, with intent to commit some crime therein, shall be punished by imprisonment in the Penitentiary not less than three (3) years nor more than twenty-five (25) years.

The word "crime" as used in the burglary statute, includes misdemeanors as well as felonies.

Newburn v. State, 205 So.2d 260, 268 (Miss. 1967). The intent crime must be named and described in the indictment. Id, 205 So.2d at 263. See also Quang Thanh Tran v. State, 962 So.2d 1237 (Miss. 2007).

The indictment returned in this case alleged, *inter alia*, that Walker "... did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and burglariously break and enter the dwelling house or inner door of such dwelling house of Sherwood and Melissa Lyons... with the intent of the said... Walker to assault the occupants of the home in violation of Miss.Code Ann. Sec. 97-17-23..." (C.P. at 4)

Our assault statute, Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7(1) defines simple assault as follows:

(1) A person is guilty of simple assault if he (a) attempts to cause or purposely, knowingly or recklessly causes bodily injury to another, or (b) negligently causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; or (c) attempts by physical menace to put another in fear of imminent serious bodily harm; . . . [emphasis supplied]

The jury was properly instructed via the S-1, C-3, and the supplemental C-5 instructions. See appellees exhibits \underline{A} , \underline{B} , and \underline{C} , attached.

Melissa Lyons, to be sure, testified quite clearly she felt threatened after Walker banged on her door, told her he was coming inside her house, then dove through her closed glass window, stood up and advanced toward her at a brisk pace with his hands in the air. A reasonable and fairminded juror could have found Walker's behavior to be quite intimidating to say the least. Walker was only three (3) feet away from Melissa when her husband intervened.

A reasonable, fairminded, hypothetical juror could have also inferred that Walker broke into the Sherwood's home to intimidate and assault even if only by physical menace.

First, Walker told Melissa he was coming inside her house. (R. 67, 81, 82, 83)

Second, Walker created a noise when he struck or pounded the door with a force strong enough to split the door jam from top to bottom. (R. 71-72; state's exhibit 4)

Third, once Melissa, with a great deal of effort, shut the door and locked it, Walker, after apparently moving some outdoor furniture, crashed through the glass window. (R. 68, 77-80)

Fourth, Walker stood up after coming through the window and approached Melissa briskly with his hands in the air. (R. 68, 85-86, 88)

Fifth, Melissa testified she was scared to death (R. 93-94) and felt threatened. (R. 106-07)

Sixth, Sherwood intervened as Walker was "... coming at her there." (R. 111-12)

It appears to us there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict, even if barely. Whether Walker entered the house by accident after having passed out following several days and nights of cocaine and intoxicants or entered it intentionally with an accompanying intent to intimate and do harm to the occupants was a question for the jury not the judge pre-verdict (directed verdict) or post-verdict (judgment notwithstanding the verdict).

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